RECEIVED

Mar 16 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HAMPTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Steven DeBerry, IV, Judicial Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2025CP2500032

Appellate Case No. 2025-001727

James WilliamsRespondent,

v.

BITCO General Insurance Corporation and
Seckinger Forest Products, Inc.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Jennifer E. Johnsen
A. Johnston Cox
Jessica W. Laffitte
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.
55 Beattie Place, Suite 1200
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 271-9580
jjohnsen@gwblawfirm.com
jcox@gwblawfirm.com
jlaffitte@gwblawfirm.com

*Attorneys for Appellant BITCO General
Insurance Corporation*

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding that BITCO did not make a meaningful offer of UIM Coverage to Seckinger.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent, James Williams, initiated this action against BITCO General Insurance Corporation (“BITCO”) and Seckinger Forest Products, Inc. (“Seckinger”) (collectively “Appellants”) by filing a summons and complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Hampton County on January 29, 2025 (R. pp. 29-37). On February 5, 2025, Respondent filed an amended summons and complaint (R. pp. 38-43). Therein, he alleged that BITCO did not make a meaningful offer of UIM coverage to Seckinger because the form signed by Seckinger rejecting additional UIM coverage contained typographical inconsistencies as to the labeling of the coverage being accepted or rejected. Plaintiff argued that these typographical errors result in the offer failing to comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 38–77–350, justifying reformation of the policy to provide UIM coverage limits of one million dollars.

BITCO answered the amended complaint on March 5, 2025. (R. pp. 44-163). Seckinger answered the amended complaint on March 6, 2025. (R. pp. 169-173). On April 22, 2025, BITCO moved for summary judgment, asserting a meaningful offer of UIM coverage was made such that reformation of the policy would be improper. (R. pp. 174-216). Respondent moved for summary judgment on May 5, 2025, seeking reformation of the policy to include UIM limits of \$1,000,000. (R. pp. 217-218). Finally, Seckinger moved for summary judgment on May 21, 2025, on the same grounds as BITCO. (R. pp. 219-225).

The pending motions were heard by Judge Steven DeBerry, IV on June 9, 2025. After hearing the arguments of the parties and reviewing the record, Judge DeBerry issued an order on

July 2, 2025, granting Respondent’s motion for summary judgment and denying Appellants’ motions for summary judgment. (R. pp. 1-26).

Thereafter, on July 2, 2025, Appellants filed a joint Motion to Alter or Amend (R. pp. 226-244), which was denied by Judge DeBerry on August 2, 2025 (R. pp. 27-28). Appellants then filed a Notice of Appeal on August 28, 2025, thereby timely commencing this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 23, 2024, Respondent was injured in an automobile accident during the course and scope of his employment with Seckinger, a forest products company in Hampton County. At the time of the accident, Respondent was operating a vehicle owned by Seckinger and insured by its carrier, BITCO. (R. p. 45). Respondent sought UIM coverage under the BITCO policy. BITCO tendered to Respondent the UIM limits of \$75,000.00 purchased by Seckinger and specified on the declarations page of the policy, and BITCO denied that any additional coverage amount is available. (R. pp. 45-46). Respondent then filed this declaratory judgment action against Seckinger and BITCO, seeking a declaration that BITCO did not make a meaningful offer of UIM coverage to Seckinger and requesting that the insurance policy issued by BITCO to Seckinger be reformed to include \$1,000,000 in underinsured motorist coverage.¹

Seckinger has been owned and operated by Jeanne Seckinger and her husband since 1991. Jeanne Seckinger is a Certified Public Accountant (“CPA”) and has over twenty years of experience in administration of law firms. (R. p. 192). She has served as CFO for a local law firm since 1999. (R. p. 192). Ms. Seckinger has been responsible for the purchase of all types of insurance for Seckinger for over twenty years and considers herself to be an intelligent and

¹ Plaintiff filed a workers’ compensation claim against a policy maintained by Seckinger, and also recovered the liability limits carried by the at-fault driver involved in the collision.

sophisticated purchaser of insurance. (R. p. 193) She constantly weighs and balances issues of the amounts and types of insurance coverage to purchase not only for Seckinger, but herself and for the law firm where she works. (*Id.*) She is very familiar with the nature and purpose of uninsured and underinsured motorist coverage and the legal requirements regarding these coverages. (*Id.*).

Beginning in October of 2016, BITCO began providing insurance to Seckinger through the Palmetto State Insurance Agency and Donald Watts, including a series of Business Automobile Policies. For each of the next four policy periods from October 1, 2016, through October 1, 2020, BITCO offered and Seckinger elected to receive underinsured motorist coverage with one million dollar limits, the same as the liability limits under the policy. (R. pp. 54-63; 193; 206) However, beginning with the policy period from October 1, 2020, to October 1, 2021, and for each year thereafter, Seckinger elected to reduce its UIM coverage limits to \$75,000.00, and responded to the offers of coverage from BITCO by designating UIM coverage to limits of \$75,000.00, rather than one million dollars previously elected and provided. (R. pp. 64-71; 194; 206)

In her affidavit, Ms. Seckinger explained the rationale behind Seckinger's decision to reduce its UIM coverage limits, reasoning that while Seckinger values its employees, it made a business decision to not purchase coverage that it felt was unnecessary. (R. p. 196) Ms. Seckinger also explained her desire to adequately protect Seckinger's employees, including family members, given the dangerous nature of their work, and reiterated her belief that Seckinger's employees were adequately protected due to workers' compensation insurance, disability, and \$75,000.00 of UM and UIM coverage limits. (R. p. 193). Thus, Seckinger believed and continues to believe that the \$75,000.00 UIM limits, combined with the other coverages also in effect, were sufficient for the needs of her business. (*Id.*)

Mr. Watts reaffirmed Ms. Seckinger's recollection, attesting that he was aware the Seckingers were concerned about their premium costs. (R. p. 206) Mr. Watts recalled that he discussed with the Seckingers the option to reduce their UM and UIM coverages to the minimum limits offered by BITCO, which was \$75,000.00. *Id.* According to Watts, the Seckingers believed that such coverage, in conjunction with workers' compensation coverage, was sufficient for Seckinger's business needs. (*Id.*)

Policy CAP 3734984, effective October 1, 2023, to October 1, 2024, was the policy in effect on the date that the Williams motor vehicle collision occurred. (R. p. 72-162) In the application process for the Policy, Seckinger again requested, and BITCO again agreed to provide, underinsured motorist limits of \$75,000.00. (R. pp. 195; 206) The Policy was partially generated through Form AF-2114 (10/18), adapted by BITCO to contain the terms approved by the South Carolina Department of Insurance for use in offering mandatory and optional automobile insurance coverages. Pages 1 and 2 of Form AF-2114 are entitled "State of South Carolina Department of Insurance SCDOI Form Number 2006 [Revised January 1, 2007] – Offer of Additional Uninsured Motorist Coverage And Optional Underinsured Motorist Coverage." (R. pp. 198-199) This form, as written and prescribed by the South Carolina Department of Insurance, explains in detail the nature and effect of the purchase of mandatory liability insurance and optional uninsured and underinsured coverages. (*Id.*) The explanatory text of this page form is in all significant respects as prescribed by the State of South Carolina Department of Insurance, and includes the following:

Automobile liability insurance coverage pays other motor vehicle drivers and their passengers for damages caused by you and for which you are legally responsible. There are two types of automobile liability insurance coverage: bodily injury and property damage. Bodily injury coverage pays for bodily injuries to others inflicted by your motor vehicle. Property damage coverage pays for damages which your motor vehicle causes to other motor vehicles or property.

Under South Carolina law, an insurance company may refuse to write your automobile liability insurance for a number of reasons. If an insurance company decides to write your automobile liability insurance coverage, however, it must provide at least \$75,000 of combined single limits. These limits are commonly known as minimum limits. In order to drive your automobile upon the roads of this State, you must have at least these minimum limits of insurance, unless you post a satisfactory bond or pay a \$550 fee to drive uninsured. There is no requirement that an insurance company offer higher than minimum limits of automobile liability insurance coverage. If your insurance company does offer more than the minimum limits, you will be required to pay an additional premium for those increased limits of protection.

An insurer that writes your automobile liability insurance coverage must also offer two additional coverages which will protect you in the event you are damaged in an automobile accident by an at fault driver who either has no automobile insurance or whose automobile insurance liability limits are less than your damages in that accident. These coverages are termed additional uninsured motorist coverage and optional underinsured motorist coverage, respectively. You may also see them referred to as UM and/or UIM. If you decide to purchase either of these coverages, you will be required to pay an additional premium for each of these coverages.

Uninsured motorist coverage compensates you, or other persons insured under your automobile insurance policy, for amounts which you may be legally entitled to collect as damages from an owner or operator of an at-fault uninsured motor vehicle. An uninsured motor vehicle is a motor vehicle which either has no liability insurance coverage or is operated by a hit-and-run driver. By law, your automobile insurance policy automatically provides uninsured motorist coverage of \$75,000. There is a \$200 deductible for uninsured property damages claims.

You also have the right to buy additional uninsured motorist coverage, in various limits up to the limits of the liability coverage you have purchased. The limits of additional uninsured motorist coverage which your insurance company is authorized to write and for which you are eligible are shown on this form, together with the additional premium for those increased limits. You may not purchase uninsured motorist coverage with limits in excess of your liability limits.

Underinsured motorist coverage compensates you, or other persons insured under your automobile insurance policy, for amounts which you legally may be entitled to collect as damages from an owner or operator of an at-fault underinsured motor vehicle. An underinsured motor vehicle is a motor vehicle which is covered by some form of liability insurance, but which is insufficient to fully compensate you for your damages.

Your automobile insurance policy does not automatically provide any underinsured motorist coverage. However, you have the right to buy, and your insurance company is required to offer, optional underinsured motorist coverage in various

limits up to the limits of liability coverage you have purchased. The limits of optional underinsured motorist coverage which your insurer is authorized to write and for which you are eligible are shown on this form, together with the additional premium for those limits. You may not purchase underinsured motorist coverage with limits in excess of your liability limits.

If you reject optional underinsured or additional uninsured motorist coverages shown on this form and if you are involved in an automobile accident that is not your fault, this form may be used by your insurance company as evidence against you if you make a claim for additional uninsured motorist coverage or optional underinsured motorist coverage.

(Id.)

Page three of Form AF-2114 for the Policy is entitled “Offer of Additional Uninsured Motorist Coverage.” This page describes the additional premium which would be charged for various levels of uninsured motorist coverage based on numbers of vehicles and policy limit options. (R. p. 200) This page contains a signature block, consistent with the page header, asking “Do you wish to purchase additional uninsured motorist coverage?” A responsive “X” was placed in the answer for “No,” and the form was electronically signed on behalf of Seckinger by Jeanne Seckinger. *Id.*, p. 3. Consistent with the answer of “No,” the subsequent line inquiring as to the amount of additional uninsured motorist coverage requested was left blank. (*Id.*) As intended, Seckinger purchased no additional UM coverage, and the Policy provided no UM coverage beyond the \$75,000.00 uninsured motorist limits stated as being automatically provided.

Page four of Form AF-2114 is entitled “Offer of Optional Underinsured Motorist Coverage.” This page describes the additional premium which would be charged for various levels of UIM coverage based on various numbers of vehicles and policy limit options.² (R. p. 201) Like the previous page, this page also contains a signature block, but a typographical error that is

² Ms. Seckinger attested that she was fully aware of specific premiums that would be charged for additional coverage and that she had the option to purchase UIM coverage in various amounts, with correlating premiums, up to the limits of liability coverage. Seckinger Aff., ¶ 9.

inconsistent with the page header repeats the same question asked on the previous page of “Do you wish to purchase additional uninsured motorist coverage?” An “X” was placed in the answer for “No,” and the form was electronically signed on behalf of Seckinger by Jeanne Seckinger. (*Id.*) Consistent with the answer of “No,” the subsequent line inquiring as to the amount of optional UIM coverage requested was left blank. Based on this form and as intended by Seckinger, the Policy was issued to Seckinger with \$75,000.00 in UIM coverage. (R. pp. 203-204)

Page five of Form AF-2114 is entitled “Applicant’s Acknowledgement,” and provides that the applicant acknowledges reading (or having read to them) the above explanations and offers of additional uninsured motorist coverage and optional underinsured motorist coverage. (R. p. 202) The acknowledgement further provides that the applicant understands the coverages as they have been explained, and that the type and amount of coverage marked on the preceding pages have been selected by the applicant and is what the applicant wishes to purchase. This page contains a signature block, dated 11/28/23, which was also signed by Ms. Seckinger. (R. p. 195-196; 202)

According to Ms. Seckinger, she has understood the nature of UIM coverage for years and was keenly aware that additional UIM coverage up to the limits of liability coverage was available. (R. p. 195) Ms. Seckinger further attested that she did not even notice the scrivener’s error on the signature portion of page 4 of Form AF-2114, she was not confused by any scrivener’s error, and that she believed at the time that she was rejecting the purchase of additional UIM coverage, which was exactly what she intended to do. (R. pp. 195-196) Finally, and notably, even after this dispute arose, Seckinger maintained and reaffirmed its decision to procure only \$75,000.00 in UIM coverage, which is exactly what it intended to do, and did do, for the 2023 – 2024 policy period. (R. p. 196)

Both Ms. Seckinger and Watts maintain that Ms. Seckinger was not confused at any point in the procurement process, that she was advised and understood that Seckinger had the option to purchase UIM coverage up to the limits of liability coverage, and that Seckinger knowingly and intentionally rejected any additional UIM coverage above \$75,000.00 (R. pp. 192-197; 205-209)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate courts apply the same standard of review applied by the trial court to review the grant of summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. *S.C. Pub. Int. Found. v. Calhoun Cnty. Council*, 432 S.C. 492, 495, 854 S.E.2d 836, 837 (2021) (citing *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 121-22, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011)). Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law. *Knight v. Austin*, 396 S.C. 518, 521–22, 722 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2012); Rule 56(c), SCRCF; *see also Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 463, 892 S.E.2d 297, 301 (2023) (eliminating the “mere scintilla” standard and holding the proper standard is the “genuine issue of material fact” standard set forth in the text of Rule 56(c), SCRCF). When the parties file cross-motions for summary judgment, the issue becomes a question of law for the Court to decide de novo. *Wiegand v. U.S. Auto. Ass'n*, 391 S.C. 159, 163, 705 S.E.2d 432, 434 (2011). Additionally, the interpretation of a statute is a question of law for the Court to review de novo. *DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC v. Hilton Head Island-Bluffton Chamber of Commerce*, 423 S.C. 295, 300, 814 S.E.2d 513, 516 (2018).

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court’s Order finding no meaningful offer of UIM was made to Seckinger and finding the Policy should be reformed to include \$1,000,000 in UIM limits is erroneous on multiple

levels. Not only does the Circuit Court fundamentally misunderstand the South Carolina law regarding underinsured motorist coverage, the Circuit Court also misapplies the *Wannamaker* factors for determining whether a meaningful offer of UIM coverage was made while simultaneously ignoring the leading South Carolina cases on the issue. Finally, the Circuit Court's erroneous Order leads to an absurd result, reforming the Policy to include the UIM coverage in the amount of \$1,000,000, despite the uncontroverted evidence that the insured categorically rejected these very limits and despite the public policy of our UIM jurisprudence, which is to protect the insured. Based on the foregoing, in conjunction with the evidence in the record, there is no genuine issue of material fact and BITCO is entitled to a reversal of the Circuit Court's Order and a finding that it made a meaningful offer to Seckinger regarding UIM coverage, such that reformation of the Policy is unwarranted.³

I. The Circuit Court's Order Misconstrues the Legal Effect of South Carolina Common and Statutory Law Governing Underinsured Automobile Insurance and Insurer's Obligations Regarding the Same.

The purpose of requiring automobile insurers to make a meaningful offer of additional UM or UIM coverage "is for insureds to know their options and to make an informed decision as to which amount of coverage will best suit their needs." *Floyd v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 367 S.C. 253, 262–63, 626 S.E.2d 6, 12 (2005) (quoting *Progressive Cas. Ins. Co. v. Leachman*, 362 S.C. 344, 352, 608 S.E.2d 569, 573 (2005)). Therefore, the Court must apply "all law with respect to a meaningful offer of additional . . . UIM coverage . . . so as to effectuate this stated purpose." *Grinnell Corp. v. Wood*, 389 S.C. 350, 356, 698 S.E.2d 796, 799 (2010). Indeed, "[t]he Court's

³ Appellant also notes that Respondent's argument that an offer of zero must be communicated to constitute a meaningful offer, which was erroneously adopted by the Circuit Court, was not even raised until the hearing. As discussed below, *infra*, this only further demonstrates the error of the Circuit Court and the absurdity of the result.

primary function in interpreting a statute is to ascertain the intent of the legislature.” *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Inj. Fund*, 318 S.C. 516, 518, 458 S.E.2d 550, 551 (1995).

Where a statute is plain and unambiguous, legislative intent must be determined from the language of the statute itself. *Whitner v. State*, 328 S.C. 1, 6, 492 S.E.2d 777, 779 (1997) (citing *State v. Blackmon*, 304 S.C. 270, 403 S.E.2d 660 (1991)). The Court should consider, however, not merely the language of the particular clause being construed, but the word and its meaning in conjunction with the purpose of the whole statute and the policy of the law. *Id.* (citing *S.C. Coastal Council v. S.C. State Ethics Comm'n*, 306 S.C. 41, 410 S.E.2d 245 (1991)). “The real purpose and intent of the lawmakers will prevail over the literal import of particular words.” *Floyd*, 367 S.C. at 260, 626 S.E.2d at 10 (citing *Browning v. Hartvigsen*, 307 S.C. 122, 125, 414 S.E.2d 115, 117 (1992)).

The Circuit Court erroneously held that BITCO did not make a meaningful offer of UIM because “the offer must clearly communicate that the insured has the option to reject UIM coverage in its entirety.” (R. p. 6). In so doing, the Circuit Court misconstrued the legal effect of South Carolina law governing underinsured automobile insurance requirements. The governing statute and case law require only that the insured be offered the right to purchase coverage up to the limits of the liability coverage. But the Circuit Court erroneously inverts the statute’s requirement by focusing not on the requirement that a carrier must offer the insured the option to purchase UIM coverage up to the limits of liability, but on the improper premise that the insured must be notified of its option to reject all UIM coverage, including zero. Thus, the Court’s suggestion that statutory and case law require that the minimum UIM limit offered to a particular insured be zero is error and mandates reversal.

Section 38-77-160 of the South Carolina Code reads, in relevant part, as follows:

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