RECEIVED

Mar 03 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HAMPTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Steven DeBerry, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2025CP2500032
Appellate Case No. 2025-001727

James Williams Respondent,

v.

BITCO General Insurance Corporation and
Seckinger Forest Products, Inc.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

s/ Laine B. Gooding
Laine B. Gooding – SC Bar #13543
Mark B. Tinsley – SC Bar #15597
GOODING AND GOODING, PA
P.O. Box 1000
Allendale, S.C. 29810
(803) 584-7676
laine@goodingandgooding.com
mark@goodingandgooding.com
*Attorneys for Respondent James
Williams*

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly held that BITCO failed to make a meaningful offer of underinsured motorist coverage. First, the circuit court properly construed South Carolina law governing the optional nature of UIM coverage and the insurer’s duty to make a meaningful offer

of UIM coverage. Next, the circuit court properly held that BITCO failed to make a meaningful offer of UIM coverage, first because its form did not comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-350(A), and secondly, because BITCO failed to meet its burden of proving the offer was meaningful under *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Wannamaker*, 291 S.C. 518, 354 S.E.2d 555 (1987). Lastly, notwithstanding the affidavits of Seckinger and Watts, or perhaps because of the affidavits, reformation of the policy does not lead to an absurd result that mandates reversal. Accordingly, the circuit court correctly ordered reformation of the policy to include underinsured motorist coverage in the amount of the liability limits. For these reasons, this Court should affirm the circuit court's order.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY CONSTRUED SOUTH CAROLINA COMMON LAW AND STATUTORY LAW GOVERNING UIM COVERAGE AND AN INSURER'S OBLIGATIONS REGARDING THE SAME.

The controlling statutes are S.C. Code Ann. §§ 38-77-160 and 38-77-350. Section 38-77-160 provides in relevant part:

Automobile insurance carriers **shall** offer, **at the option of the insured**, uninsured motorist coverage up to the limits of the insured's liability coverage **in addition to the mandatory coverage prescribed by Section 38-77-150**. Such carriers **shall** also offer, **at the option of the insured**, underinsured motorist coverage up to the limits of the insured's liability coverage to provide coverage in the event that damages are sustained in excess of the liability limits carried by an at-fault insured or underinsured motorist or in excess of any damages cap or limitation imposed by statute.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160 (emphasis added). Because no amount of UIM coverage is mandatory in South Carolina, the section of 38-77-160 addressing UIM does not speak to "additional" UIM,

as opposed to the first sentence addressing UM coverage which has a mandatory minimum limit, but rather simply mandates that insurers also are required to offer optional UIM coverage in amounts up to the limits of liability coverage purchased by the insured. Perhaps most importantly for purposes of the issue on appeal is the identical language included in both sentences: “at the option of the insured.” The legislature very intentionally inserted this modifying phrase after the verb “shall offer” to make it clear that the insurer must give the insured sufficient information for the insured to intelligibly make the decision to **accept** or **reject** the optional coverages addressed by § 38-77-160, i.e. UM coverage above the statutory minimum limits and **all** UIM coverage. This is the language that Appellants choose to ignore because they cannot reconcile this language with their position.

Consistent with the legislature’s clear pronouncement and applicable case law including *Wannamaker* and its progeny requiring a meaningful offer, § 38-77-350(A) sets forth requirements concerning a form that insurers are required to use in offering the optional coverages:

(A) The director or his designee shall approve a form that automobile insurers shall use in offering optional coverages required to be offered pursuant to law to applicants for automobile insurance policies. This form must be used by insurers for all new applicants. The form, at a minimum, must provide for each optional coverage required to be offered:

- (1) a brief and concise explanation of the coverage;
- (2) a list of available limits and the range of premiums for the limits;
- (3) a space to mark whether the insured chooses to **accept** or **reject** the coverage and a space to state the limits of coverage the insured desires;

- (4) a space for the insured to sign the form that acknowledges that the insured has been offered the optional coverages;
- (5) the mailing address and telephone number of the insurance department that the applicant may contact if the applicant has questions that the insurance agent is unable to answer.

(B) If this form is signed by the named insured, after it has been completed by an insurance producer or a representative of the insurer, it is **conclusively presumed** that there was an informed, knowing selection of coverage and neither the insurance company nor an insurance agent is liable to the named insured or another insured under the policy for the insured's failure to purchase optional coverage or higher limits.

(C) An automobile insurer is not required to make a new offer of coverage on any automobile insurance policy which renews, extends, changes, supersedes, or replaces an existing policy.

(D) Compliance with this section satisfies the insurer and agent's duty to explain and offer optional coverages and higher limits and no person, including, but not limited to, an insurer and insurance agent is liable in an action for damages on account of the selection or rejection made by the named insured.

(E) If the insured fails or refuses to return an executed offer form within thirty days to the insurer, the insurer shall add on uninsured motorist and underinsured motorist coverages with the same policy limits as the insured's liability limits.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-350 (emphasis added). If the form meets the requirements listed in subparts (1) through (5) and is properly signed by the insured, a conclusive presumption arises that the insurer made a meaningful offer. One of those requirements is a space for the insured **to reject or accept** the optional coverage for a price. This requirement is necessary to carry out § 38-77-160's requirement that the offer be "at the option of the insured" to provide the opportunity to

understand the option and to either accept or reject it. After all, an offer, by definition, requires an opportunity for the offeree either to accept or reject. The only reason the statute includes the redundant, modifying phrase, “at the option of the insured,” is to emphasize the fact that the insured has the absolute right to reject UIM coverage in its entirety which is what makes a “meaningful” offer critical.

Appellants’ Policy converts UIM coverage into mandatory coverage, at the option of the **insurer**, instead of at the option of the **insured**. Contrary to their argument, it is in fact Appellants, and not the circuit court, who invert the statute’s requirement. According to Appellants, “[t]he governing statute and case law require only that the insured be offered the right to purchase coverage up to the limits of liability” (App. Brief, p.11) and does not prevent an insurer from “requiring an insured to purchase some amount of UIM coverage.” (*Id.* at 12). This confuses the actual issue which is does the form as written satisfy the insurer’s obligations. Accepting Appellants’ argument will allow insurers to require the purchase of UIM coverage in any amount the insurer chooses while technically misrepresenting the true cost of the optional coverage above what the carrier has required.

Appellants’ argument that “[i]t is not the option to reject, but the option to *purchase*, which is key” is simply wrong (*Id.* at 12). Sections 38-77-160 and 38-77-350 make it patently clear that, in the arena of optional coverages, i.e. additional UM coverage and ALL UIM coverage, the insured’s right to purchase those optional coverages is equally balanced by the insured’s right to reject those coverages. After all, without a right to reject, the coverage is not optional which makes the form misleading. *See, State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Wannamaker*, 291 S.C. 518, 354 S.E.2d

555, 556 (1987)(discussing in detail the insured's right either "to accept or reject" UIM coverage); *see also, infra* pp. 13-14).

Similarly, Appellants' argument that a right to reject UIM in its entirety is "contrary to the fundamental purpose involved in the mandatory insurance statutory scheme, which is to provide more protection, not less" is based on a mistaken view of South Carolina law (App. Brief pp. 12-13). Part of the protection for the insured that the legislature deemed necessary was the insured's right to reject certain coverages to reduce the insured's premium. Clearly the purpose behind the insured retaining this right is making sure the insured receives a "meaningful offer" in order to make an informed decision. If a carrier requires UIM, but the form it uses does not acknowledge that requirement and corresponding cost to the insured, then whenever a form like the one at issue here is used, it will misrepresent the actual cost of the optional coverage. Similarly, part of the protection for the insured that the legislature deemed necessary was the insured's right to purchase UIM coverage in limits up to the liability limits and to be advised of the **incremental increases** in the premium for each limit of UIM coverage. Here, the insured had neither type of protection. Seckinger did not have the option to reject all coverage. Rather, \$75,000 in UIM coverage was automatically included in the Policy but the form does not mention that fact. The significance is that the mandatory UIM of \$75,000 came with a mandatory premium of at least \$28 per vehicle that was automatically tacked on, without ever explaining to Jeanne Seckinger that \$1,000,000 in UIM coverage would only cost an extra \$54 or even asking whether Seckinger wanted to select a greater amount of UIM coverage than was already being required. Why would BITCO do this? The answer is simple. On the one hand, BITCO's method of "offering UIM" guaranteed BITCO

an extra premium of some amount per vehicle and also removed the risk to BITCO of having to provide \$1,000,000 in UIM for what appears to be only a small increase in premium. BITCO's process gave BITCO the best of both worlds and illustrates a calculated decision on its part to look out for its own bottom line at the expense of its insured. To reverse the circuit court and find that BITCO made a meaningful offer of UIM coverage, this Court must necessarily hold that an insurer is not required to make a meaningful offer in compliance with either the applicable statutes or *Wannamaker* and its progeny or even give the insured accurate information with respect to its actual cost. Such a holding will allow insurers to make any amount of UIM coverage mandatory, in direct contravention of South Carolina law, and then misrepresent the true cost of the other optional coverages. That is exactly what BITCO did here and illustrates why South Carolina law requires that the insurer must intelligibly advise the insured. These are the absurd results that must be avoided.

Appellants attack the circuit court by latching on to language in the Order concerning the insured's right to reject UIM in its entirety which BITCO argues leads to the absurd result that the Policy will be reformed to include \$1 million in UIM instead of no coverage at all. The problem with BITCO's argument is that it ignores the rationale underlying the requirement for a "meaningful" offer. If the offer of UIM makes it clear that all UIM is optional and then lists the premiums for each optional amount of UIM coverage up to the liability limits, then the actual premium for each corresponding amount of UIM coverage will be clearly stated in the offer. Here, the circuit court recognized that by not allowing the insured the option to reject all UIM coverage but instead requiring minimum limits of UIM for a required premium while not explaining the

actual cost to the insured for a higher amount of UIM, BITCO failed to make a meaningful offer. This is true even assuming that an insurer is allowed by law to require the purchase of minimum limits of UIM coverage. That is the fallacy of Appellants' argument.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT BITCO FAILED TO MAKE A MEANINGFUL OFFER OF UIM.

As set forth above, § 38-77-160 requires an insurer to offer UIM coverage up to the limits of the insured's liability coverage and set out the costs of such coverages. Case law establishes that the insurer's offer must be meaningful. *See, State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Wannamaker*, 291 S.C. 518, 521, 354 S.E.2d 555, 556 (1987); *Floyd v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 367 S.C. 253, 626 S.E.2d 6 (2005). The meaningful offer requirement is so important that an insurer's failure to comply requires reformation of the policy to provide the optional coverage in the amount of the insured's liability limits. *Id.*; *see also*, S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-350(E). Interpreting § 38-77-160, *Wannamaker* explains: "The legislature further required that the insured shall have the option of **accepting or rejecting** the offer. We hold the statute mandates the insured to be provided with **adequate information**, and in such a manner, as to allow the insured **to make an intelligent decision of whether to accept or reject the coverage.**" *Wannamaker*, 291 S.C. 518, 521, 354 S.E.2d 555, 556 (1987). Similarly, *Floyd* explains that "[t]he purpose of requiring automobile insurers to make a meaningful offer of additional UM or UIM coverage 'is for insureds to know their options and to make an informed decision as to which amount of coverage will best suit their needs.'" *Floyd*, 367 S.C. 253, 262-263, 626 S.E.2d 6, 12 (2005)(other citations omitted). Significantly, "a noncomplying offer has the legal effect of no offer at all." *Ray v. Austin*, 388 S.C. 605, 611, 609 S.E.2d 208, 212 (2010)(citing *Hanover Ins. Co. v. Horace Mann Ins. Co.*, 301

S.C. 55, 389 S.E.2d 657 (1990)). Lastly, “[t]he insurer bears the burden of establishing that it made a meaningful offer of UIM coverage.” *Ray v. Austin*, 388 S.C. 605, 611, 609 S.E.2d 208, 212 (2010); *Croft v. Old Republic Ins. Co.*, 365 S.C. 402, 618 S.E.2d 909 (2005).

One way to establish a meaningful offer is compliance with S.C. Code § 38-77-350 which creates a conclusive presumption that the insurer made a meaningful offer of UIM coverage provided the insurer uses a form that complies with the minimum requirements set forth in § 38-77-350 and is signed by the insured. Section 38-77-350(A) sets forth the minimum requirements:

- (1) A brief and concise explanation of the coverage;
- (2) A list of available limits and the range of premiums for the limits;
- (3) A space for the insured to mark whether the insured chooses to accept or reject the coverage and a space for the insured to select the limits of coverage he desires;
- (4) A space for the insured to sign the form which acknowledges that he has been offered the optional coverages;
- (5) The mailing address and telephone number of the Insurance Department which the applicant may contact if the applicant has any questions that the insurance agent is unable to answer.

Id. If the insurer’s form complies with these minimum requirements and is properly executed by the insured, a conclusive presumption arises in favor of the insurer that a meaningful offer was made in compliance with *Wannamaker*.

Conversely, if the insurer fails to comply with § 38-77-350, the insurer does not enjoy a conclusive presumption. In that event, the insurer must meet its burden of proving a meaningful offer by establishing each of the four requirements established by *Wannamaker*:

- (1) the insurer's notification process must be commercially reasonable, whether oral or in writing;
- (2) the insurer must specify the limits of optional coverage and not merely offer additional coverage in general terms;
- (3) the insurer must intelligibly advise the insured of the nature of the optional coverage; **and**
- (4) the insurer must be told that optional coverages are available for an additional premium.

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